NO. 46130-7-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

COLUMBIA RIVERKEEPER; and NORTHWEST ENVIRONMENTAL DEFENSE CENTER, Petitioners,

v.

PORT OF VANCOUVER USA; JERRY OLIVER, Port of Vancouver USA Board of Commissioners President; BRIAN WOLFE, Port of Vancouver USA Board of Commissioners Vice President; and NANCY I. BAKER, Port of Vancouver USA Board of Commissioners Secretary,

Respondents.

OPENING BRIEF FOR COLUMBIA RIVERKEEPER and NORTHWEST ENVIRONMENTAL DEFENSE CENTER

1 SHISHY USPS The

1 CULTINDU

Miles B. Johnson, *admitted pro hac vice* 111 Third St., Hood River, OR 97031 Tel: (541) 272-0027 Email: miles@columbiariverkeeper.org STATE OF WASHIN

2014 AUG 18

I. Introduction

Columbia Riverkeeper and Northwest Environmental Defense Center (collectively, "Riverkeeper") challenge the Port of Vancouver, USA and its commissioners' (collectively, the "Port") execution of a lease prior to the preparation of an Environmental Impact Statement ("EIS") in violation of the State Environmental Policy Act ("SEPA"). The ten-year lease commits roughly 42 acres of public property near downtown Vancouver, Washington, for use as a crude-by-rail terminal that would receive and ship 360,000 barrels of crude oil each day, and store more than 2 million barrels of crude oil on the banks of the Columbia River. The Port executed this binding lease with Tesoro Savage Petroleum Terminal, LLC ("Tesoro") before the analyses required by SEPA of the human health risks and environmental impacts of the crude oil terminal had even begun. The Port violated the letter and the fundamental purposes of SEPA by contracting away its ability to reject the project or require additional or alternative lease terms before an EIS is complete.

The parties agree that Tesoro's proposed project is subject to Washington's Energy Facilities Site Locations Act ("EFSLA") and therefore that the Energy Facility Site Evaluation-Council-("EFSEC") is statutorily designated as the lead SEPA agency charged with preparing an EIS for the project. However, the Superior Court erred in finding that EFSLA allows the Port to execute the lease before EFSEC completes an

EIS studying the human health and environmental impacts of the crude oil terminal. The Superior Court further erred by concluding that the lease allows the Port to withdraw from the lease or meaningfully modify the lease terms in response to information about human health and environmental risks disclosed through the SEPA process. This Court should reverse the Superior Court's decision and ensure that the Port is not allowed to evade SEPA's core goals by an irreversibly committing to host a massive crude-by-rail terminal on public property before the environmental impacts are analyzed and disclosed.

II. Assignments of Error and Issues

1. Assignments of Error

a. First Assignment of Error

The Superior Court erred in granting the Port's motion for summary judgment as to Riverkeeper's Fifth Cause of Action by finding that the Energy Facilities Site Locations Act, RCW 80.50.180 (App. p.16), exempts the Port's decision to lease public land from SEPA's EIS requirement, RCW 43.21C.030(2)(c) (App. p.2).

b. Second Assignment of Error

The Superior Court erred in granting the Port's motion for

summary judgment as to Riverkeeper's Sixth Cause of Action by finding that the lease did not limit the reasonable range of alternatives prior to the

completion of SEPA review of the project. *See* WAC 197-11-070(1) (App. p.20); WAC 463-47-020 (App. pp.53–59).

2. Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

Did the Port violate SEPA by making a proprietary decision to enter into a long-term lease for the development of a massive crude oil shipping terminal on public land before the human health and environmental impacts of the terminal are analyzed and disclosed to the public in an EIS?

Issue Pertaining to First Assignment of Error

Issue Pertaining to Second Assignment of Error

Did the Port violate SEPA by limiting the choice of reasonable alternatives before the completion of the EIS by executing a long-term, legally binding lease detailing the location, fundamental design, and certain conditions of a massive crude oil terminal, and requiring the Port to advocate for the licensing of the terminal as described in the lease?

III. Statement of the Case

a.

b.

1. Washington's State Environmental Policy Act

SEPA was enacted to "encourage productive and enjoyable harmony between humankind and the environment" and to "prevent or eliminate damage to the environment and biosphere." RCW 43.21C.010 (App. p.1). To achieve these goals, SEPA requires agencies to integrate environmental concerns into their decision making processes and study and explain the environmental consequences

before making decisions. See Stempel v. Dep't of Water Res., 82 Wn.2d 109,

117–18, 508 P.2d 166 (1973).

Specifically, SEPA requires that all branches of the State government include, in each proposal for a major action with probable significant adverse environmental impacts, a "detailed statement" on:

(i) the environmental impact of the proposed action; (ii) any adverse environmental effects which cannot be avoided should the proposal be implemented; (iii) alternatives to the proposed action; (iv) the relationship between local short-term uses of the environment and the maintenance and enhancement of long-term productivity; and (v) any irreversible and irretrievable commitments of resources which would be involved in the proposed action should it be implemented.

RCW 43.21C.030(2)(c) (App. p.2). This "detailed statement" is commonly referred to as an EIS. RCW 43.21C.031(1) (App. p.3).

Where two or more agencies have decision-making authority over different aspects of a proposed project, one agency is designated the "lead" SEPA agency. *See* WAC 197-11-922–948 (App. pp.36–50); *and* WAC 197-11-055(5) (App. p.19); *and* WAC 197-11-030(2)(d)–(e) (App. p.17). The lead agency prepares the EIS for the proposed project. WAC 197-11-050(2)(b) (App. p.18). The other non-lead agencies involved must use that EIS unless an exception applies, such as where a non-lead agency believes that its comments on the draft EIS warrant additional analysis, whereupon the non-lead agency prepares a supplement to the EIS. WAC 197-11-600(3)(c) (App. p.28). This procedure eliminates duplicative analyses but ensures that all responsible agencies have the benefit of an EIS before making decisions. Until the EIS is issued, both lead and

non-lead agencies are prohibited from taking any actions that would have adverse environmental impacts or limit the choice of reasonable alternatives. WAC 197-11-070(1) (App. p.20).

2. Washington's Energy Facilities Site Locations Act

EFSLA governs the regulation of "energy facilities," RCW 80.50.060(1) (App. p.9), which include "[f]acilities which will have the capacity to receive more than an average of fifty thousand barrels per day of crude or refined petroleum or liquefied petroleum gas which has been or will be transported over marine waters" RCW 80.50.020(12)(d) (App. p.4).

EFSLA also created EFSEC, an agency consisting of a chair person appointed by the governor and several public officers and officials, to administer a certification process for proposed energy facilities. RCW 80.50.030 (App. pp.5–6); *Residents Opposed to Kittitas Turbines v. State Energy Facility Site Evaluation Council*, 165 Wn.2d 275, 284–85, 197 P.3d 1153 (2008). For energy facilities proposed to be located on port district property, the affected port district appoints a representative as a nonvoting member of EFSEC. RCW 80.50.030(6) (App. p. 6). "Site certification [from EFSEC] authorizes the applicant to construct and operate an energy facility in lieu of any other permit or document required by any other agency or subdivision." *Residents Opposed to Kittitas Turbines*, 165 Wn.2d at 285, 197 P.3d 1153 (citing RCW 80.50.120(2), (3)

(App. p.14)). EFSLA thereby "preempts" any other local or state agency from regulating, permitting, or certifying energy facilities that are subject to the statute. RCW 80.50.110 (App. p.13).

EFSEC is the lead SEPA agency charged with preparing EISs for energy facilities subject to EFSLA. WAC 197-11-938(1) (App. p.44). EFSLA exempts agencies—other than EFSEC—from the requirement to prepare an EIS for certain regulatory actions related to energy facilities subject to the statute:

Except for actions of the [EFSEC] under [EFSLA], all proposals for legislation and other actions of any branch of government..., to the extent the legislation or other action involved approves, authorizes, [or] permits...the location, financing or construction of any energy facility subject to certification under [EFSLA], shall be exempt from the [EIS] required by [SEPA].

RCW 80.50.180 (App. p.16). However, EFSEC has also adopted regulations that prohibit any such non-lead agencies from taking actions that would limit the choice of reasonable alternatives before EFSEC completes its EIS. WAC 463-47-020 (App. p.53) (adopting WAC 197-11-070(1)(b)) (App. p.20).

3. Tesoro's Proposed Crude-by-rail Terminal

Tesoro proposes constructing a massive crude oil terminal on public property at the Port of Vancouver. CP at 0079–95. Up to 360,000 barrels-of-crude-oil-per-day-would-arrive-at-Tesoro's-terminal-near downtown Vancouver, Washington, in rail tanker cars. CP at 0162. At full operation, the terminal would receive an average of four mile-and-ahalf-long oil trains every day. CP at 0163. The terminal would store more than 2 million barrels of crude oil in large above-ground tanks, and load crude oil into tanker ships that would pass through the Columbia River Estuary and cross the Columbia River Bar on their way to refineries. CP at 0162.

To build and operate the proposed crude oil terminal at the Port, Tesoro must secure both the proprietary right to use the Port's land and the regulatory approval necessary to operate a large crude oil shipping facility. Without the Port's consent to lease public land along the Columbia River near downtown Vancouver, Tesoro could not construct the proposed crude oil terminal. CP at 0269–335 (App. pp.67–171). While the proposed crude oil terminal is an "energy facility" within the meaning of EFSLA, RCW 80.50.020(12)(d) (App. p.4), and therefore requires regulatory certification from EFSEC, RCW 80.50.060(1) (App. p.9), EFSEC does not control the Port's decision to lease public land to Tesoro. *See* RCW 80.50.040 (App. pp.7–8) (listing EFSEC's powers).

4. The October 2013 Lease

The Port and Tesoro executed a lease for the development of the crude oil terminal on October 22, 2013. CP 0333 (App. p.131). The lease provides that it is the entire, "absolute and irrevocable" legal agreement between the Port and Tesoro. CP at 0282, 0332 (App. pp.79, 130). The lease describes specific details of Tesoro's proposed project, including the project's fundamental design, CP at 0273–74, 0279–80, 0337–43 (App.

pp.71–72, 77–78, 135–141), use, CP at 0277, 0289–94 (App. pp.75, 87– 92), payment and financing, CP at 0274–76, 0284–89 (App. pp.72–74, 82– 87), and exclusive options. CP at 0290–91 (App. pp.88–89). The lease further specifies the amount of pollution liability insurance that Tesoro is required to maintain for the project---\$25 million. CP at 0278 (App. p.76). The lease also specifies the duration of the agreement; ten years with the option to extend the lease for two consecutive five-year terms. CP at 0274, 0282–83 (App. pp.72, 80–81).

The lease states that it is subject to two "conditions precedent," CP at 0281 (App. p.79), but neither of these conditions enable the Port to withdraw from the lease or renegotiate any of its material terms if the SEPA analysis discloses significant environmental or human health risks. The first condition states that the oil terminal will not be built if Tesoro cannot obtain the necessary regulatory permits—*i.e.*, certification from EFSEC. *Id.* The second condition, that Tesoro must obtain a baseline environmental investigation of the property, is explicitly provided only for Tesoro's benefit; the Port has no ability to void or renegotiate the lease if this condition is not met. *Id.* Unless Tesoro, of its own volition, actually fails to pursue development and commence construction of the crude oil terminal as described in the lease, the Port will be unable to withdraw from or renegotiate the lease. CP at 0282 (App. p.80).

The Port negotiated and executed this binding lease before the EIS, or even a draft of the EIS, was available to the Port or the public. *See* CP at 0045. While the Port provided opportunities for public comment on its leasing decision, CP at 0040–41, no formal study existed to explain the environmental and human health risks posed by the crude oil terminal. *See* CP at 0045. Accordingly, that information—which EFSEC's forthcoming EIS will presumably contain—was not available to members of the public, including Riverkeeper, attempting to provide meaningful input about the Port's decision. Further, this lack of disclosure interfered with the public's understanding of the consequences of the publicly elected Port commissioners' decision.

5. EFSEC's SEPA Review of Tesoro's Proposal

EFSEC is in the process of preparing an EIS to analyze the human health and environmental impacts of the proposed crude oil terminal. Tesoro filed its application for EFSEC regulatory certification on August 29, 2013, and requested that EFSEC determine that an EIS is required. CP at 0045. On October 3, 2013, EFSEC "determined that [the crude oil terminal] is likely to have a significant adverse impact on the environment" and designated itself as the lead agency for preparing the EIS. *Id.* The Port appointed, and EFSEC hired, Lawrance Paulson as the Port's representative member on EFSEC during the certification process for Tesoro's project. *See* CP at 0247. To the best of Riverkeeper's

knowledge, EFSEC is still preparing a draft EIS as of the date of this filing.

IV. Argument

The Port violated the spirit and the letter of SEPA by leasing public land to Tesoro before EFSEC completes the EIS for the proposed crude oil terminal. EFSLA does not exempt proprietary decisions to lease public land from SEPA review. The Port thus violated SEPA's basic requirement that an EIS must precede all major actions significantly impacting the environment. RCW 43.21C.030(2)(c) (App. p.2); *see also* CP at 0014–15. Even if EFSLA exempted the Port's lease decision from the EIS requirement—which it does not—the Port's binding and detailed lease violates EFSEC's SEPA regulations prohibiting any action that would limit the reasonable alternatives to a proposal before EFSEC completes an EIS. *See* WAC 463-47-020 (App. p.53) (adopting WAC 197-11-070(1)(b) (App. p.20)); *see also* CP at 0015.

The Port's premature decision to negotiate and execute a lease of public land compromised SEPA's primary goal: to "prevent or eliminate damage to the environment," RCW 43.21C.010 (App. p.1), by ensuring that the values of ecological health and human welfare become part of every agency's decision-making process. *Stempel*, 82 Wn.2d at 117–18, 508 P.2d 166. SEPA review should begin "at the earliest opportunity," *Klickitat County Citizens Against Imported Waste v. Klickitat County*, 122 Wn.2d 619, 646, 860 P.2d 390 (1993), so agencies can and will weigh the environmental consequences before making a decision. WAC 197-11-400(1), (4) (App. p.21); *see also Metcalf v. Daley*, 214 F.3d 1135, 1142 (9th Cir. 2000) (The National Environmental Policy Act's ("NEPA") success "depends entirely on involving environmental considerations in the initial decisionmaking process.") (citing 40 C.F.R. §§ 1501.2, 1502.5 (App. pp.61–62)).¹ An EIS is not a means for "justifying decisions already made." WAC 197-11-402(10) (App. p.22). The Port should have waited for and used the analysis in the EIS to decide whether, or under what conditions, to lease public land for the crude oil terminal. The Port's failure to do so cause the Port to make its decision without the required consideration for "ecological health and human welfare" *Stempel*, 82 Wn.2d at 117–18, 508 P.2d 166.

By leasing public land to Tesoro before the EIS process had even begun, the Port also undercut SEPA's disclosure, public scrutiny, and decision-maker accountability functions. The EIS process should both alert the public to the consequences of an agency's proposed action and "give the public enough information to be able to participate intelligently"

¹ "NEPA is substantially similar to SEPA, [so] Washington Courts may look to federal case law for SEPA interpretation." *Public Utility Dist. No. 1 of Clark County v. Pollution Control Hearings Bd.*, 137 Wn. App. 150, 158, 151 P.3d 1067 (2007) ("*Clark PUD*"). Further, the policies behind SEPA are even stronger than NEPA. *Kucera v. Dep't of Transp.*, 140 Wn.2d 200, 224, 995 P.2d 63 (2000).

in the decision-making process. *Nisqually Delta Assoc. v. Du Pont*, 103 Wn.2d 720, 741–42, 696 P.2d 1222 (1985) (Dore, J., dissenting); *and see Cal. v. Block*, 690 F.2d 753, 772 (9th Cir. 1982) (stating that a purpose of the EIS process under NEPA is also "to give the public enough information to be able to participate intelligently"). As the U.S. Supreme Court explained, an EIS "provides a springboard for public comment" and also informs the public whether the agency "has indeed considered environmental concerns in its decisionmaking process. . . ." *Robertson v. Methow Valley Citizens Council*, 490 U.S. 332, 349 (1989) (citations and quotations omitted). In addition to informing the underlying decision, the requirement to disclose environmental impacts serves the purpose of "strengthening agency accountability. . . ." *Atlanta Coalition on Transp. Crisis, Inc. v. Atlanta Regional Com.*, 599 F.2d 1333, 1344 n.13 (5th Cir. 1979).

The Port's commitment of public property for a crude oil terminal before the EIS was published prevented the public from understanding the environmental and safety implications of the Port's decision. Without this critical information, Riverkeeper and other members of the public were not able to provide the "public scrutiny" and input that is "essential" to the EIS process and the Port's leasing decision. *See Brodsky v. United States NRC*, 704 F.3d 113, 120 (2d Cir. 2013) (citing 40 C.F.R. § 1500.1(b) (App. p.62)); *see also W. Watersheds Project v. Kraayenbrink*, 632 F.3d

472, 492 (9th Cir. 2011). Failure to disclose and explain the environmental and human health consequences of the Port's decision also insulated the Port and the Port commissioners—elected public officials from public accountability.

The relief sought by Riverkeeper is neither burdensome nor complicated: the Port should be required to wait until EFSEC's EIS discloses the human health and environmental risks associated with operating a massive crude oil terminal on the Columbia River near downtown Vancouver, Washington, before committing public property to that project. That, after all, is the point of SEPA.

1. Standard of Review

The Court of Appeals reviews decisions on summary judgment de novo, engaging in the same inquiry as the trial court. *Int'l Longshore & Warehouse Union, Local 19 v. City of Seattle*, 176 Wn. App. 511, 519, 309 P.3d 654 (2013). All Washington laws "shall be interpreted . . . in accordance with the policies set forth" in SEPA. RCW 43.21C.030(1) (App. p.2); *see also Juanita Bay Valley Cmty. Ass'n v. City of Kirkland*, 9 Wn. App. 59, 65, 510 P.2d 1140 (1973).

2. The Port's decision to lease public land for a crude-byrail terminal is subject to SEPA's EIS requirement.

As the sale or lease of public land often has important environmental impacts, proprietary decisions like the Port's decision to lease land for a crude oil terminal require SEPA review. WAC 197-11704(2)(a)(ii) (App. p.32) (defining actions that may trigger SEPA to include leases of public lands); *see also In re Recall of Telford*, 166 Wn.2d 148, 158, 206 P.3d 1248 (2009) (discussing the SEPA process for a lease by a port).

The parties do not dispute that the proposed crude oil terminal would have significant environmental impacts, and therefore requires an EIS. Because the proposed crude oil terminal is an energy facility within the meaning of EFSLA, EFSEC is the lead agency charged with preparing the EIS for the proposed project. CP at 0045. As a non-lead agency with decision-making authority over a proposed project for which an EIS is being prepared, the Port was required to wait for and use EFSEC's EIS before negotiating and executing the lease. RCW 43.21C.030(2)(c) (App. p.2); WAC 197-11-600 (App. pp.28–29). This is how SEPA's fundamental requirement to prepare an EIS applies to non-lead agencies like the Port.

When EFSEC has jurisdiction over certifying an energy facility, some regulatory decisions by other state agencies are exempt from SEPA's requirements. However, proprietary decisions like the Port's lease are not exempt. Specifically, EFSLA provides:

> "all proposals for legislation and other actions of . . . municipal and public corporations, . . . to the extent the legislation or other action involved approves, authorizes, [or] permits . . . the location, financing or construction of any energy facility subject to certification under [EFSLA], shall be exempt from the [EIS] required by [SEPA]."

RCW 80.50.180 (App. p.16). A lease is not an action that "approves, authorizes, [or] permits" the oil terminal within the meaning of EFSLA. Rather, the terms "approves," "authorizes," and "permits" in this provision refer to regulatory—not proprietary—decisions. Because EFSLA does not exempt the proprietary lease decision from SEPA, the Port violated SEPA's fundamental requirement by making a decision that significantly impacted the environment before an EIS was prepared. RCW 43.21C.030(2)(c) (App. p.2); *Int'l Longshore*, 176 Wash. App. at 522, 309 P.3d 654 (SEPA's "fundamental idea" is "to prevent government agencies from approving projects and plans before the environmental impacts of doing so are understood.").

a.

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