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

V. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The contingent lease complies with SEPA and the Superior Court correctly entered summary judgment in favor of respondents. The lease is an action that additionally authorizes the location of the energy facility.

As such, RCW 80.50.180 exempts the lease from SEPA procedures.

Riverkeeper's attempts to divide the EFSLA exemption into "proprietary" and "regulatory" decisions are not supported by statutory text, context, or

structure. The exemption covers all actions relating to an EFSEC project that would otherwise be subject to SEPA.

The lease does not impermissibly limit the range of reasonable alternatives. The Council and the Governor are free to consider and select any or all alternatives. There is no danger that the lease will create expectations, or give this project momentum, that will prevent the Council or Governor from fulfilling SEPA's process and policy. The contingent nature of the lease also allows the Port to respond, if necessary, after the conclusion of the environmental review.

The Port was careful to enter into a lease that gave the tenant enough assurances while making sure that a full environmental review would take place. It intended to and did comply with SEPA at every step. Riverkeeper would have the Court impose procedural steps that are not required by SEPA and which are directly contrary to the consolidated review that the Legislature intended when it established the Council. The judgment of the Superior Court should be affirmed.

VI. ARGUMENT

- A. The Superior Court correctly dismissed Riverkeeper's first SEPA claim because EFSLA exempts the decision to approve the lease from a separate SEPA process.
 - 1. The plain language of RCW 80.50.180 exempts the lease decision from SEPA procedures.

The lease from the Port to Tesoro-Savage falls within the exemption established by section 180 of EFSLA, RCW 80.50.180.

Because of the exemption, the Port was not required to engage in SEPA procedures before it executed the lease. SEPA does not require the Port to prepare an EIS, nor does it require the Port to make a "threshold determination" of significance. Both these actions are the responsibility of the Council. The Superior Court correctly dismissed Riverkeeper's claim and the first assignment of error should be overruled.

The relevant statutory text is:

"[A]ll actions of any branch of government of this state, including ... municipal and public corporations ... to the extent ... [the] action involved approves, authorizes, permits ... the location, financing or construction of any energy facility subject to certification under chapter 80.50 RCW, shall be exempt from the 'detailed statement' required by RCW 43.21C.030. Nothing in this section shall be construed as exempting any action of the council from any provision of chapter 43.21C RCW."

RCW 80.50.180 (emphasis added). On its face, this statute applies to the lease. The lease is a necessary condition for the location and construction of the project. It conditionally approves, authorizes, and permits the location and construction of an energy facility subject to Council certification. If it did none of those things, Riverkeeper would have no reason to oppose the lease or to bring suit. "If a statute's meaning is plain on its face, then [Washington courts] give effect to that plain meaning as an expression of legislative intent." *Snohomish Cnty. Pub. Transp. Ben. Area v. State Pub. Emp't Relations Comm'n*, 173 Wn. App. 504, 516, 294 P.3d 803 (2013). RCW 80.50.180 plainly exempts the lease here from SEPA procedures.

Riverkeeper contends that the lease does not "approve, authorize, [or] permit[]' the oil terminal within the meaning of EFSLA."

(Riverkeeper's ("RK") Br. at 15.) To be sure, the lease does not permit the facility as a whole. But Riverkeeper's argument elides the language of the statute referring to decisions that approve, permit, or authorize the *location* of the project at issue. The lease is a preliminary step to the Council process, so it is the type of action covered by RCW 80.50.180.

The Act's exemption from the "detailed statement" (the EIS requirement) is a complete exemption from SEPA procedures. Thus the

Port had no duty to prepare either an EIS or a threshold determination.

Because EFSLA consolidates all SEPA responsibilities with the Council, the threshold determination has been prepared by the Council, and Council will prepare the EIS. (CP 169-71.) WAC 197-11-720. (App. 20.)

Once an activity is determined to fit within a categorical exemption, the court's inquiry is at an end, absent a challenge to the validity of the exemption itself. *Dioxin/Organochlorine Ctr. v. Pollution Control Hearings Bd.*, 131 Wn.2d 345, 363, 932 P.2d 158, 166 (1997). The Court does not examine the effects of the individual action because to do so would undermine the purpose of the exemption. *Id.* Here, because the tenant is prohibited both by contract and statute from beginning construction before to the Council's certification, there can be no concern that giving effect to the statute would lead to adverse environmental impacts.

In *Snohomish Cnty. v. State*, 69 Wn. App. 655, 850 P.2d 546 (1993), Division I construed a statute, RCW 76.09.050(1)(d), which, similarly to EFSLA, provided that certain forest practices were "exempt from the requirements for preparation of a detailed statement under the state environmental policy act." The court rejected the argument that a threshold determination of significance was required. Since the practices

were "generally exempt from preparation of an EIS, it logically follows that no intermediate steps need be taken." 69 Wn. App. at 670, 850 P.2d at 555. *Snohomish* reasoned that the very purpose of the preliminary steps (the threshold determination of significance) was to facilitate the preparation of an EIS, so when a statute exempted the practice from an EIS, the threshold determination would be pointless. The same is true here. The Council has made the threshold determination and will produce the EIS, as anticipated by the statute and by the Port's action in approving the lease.

2. Riverkeeper's proposed distinction between "regulatory" and "proprietary" decisions is not supported by the statutory text, context, or structure.

applies to the Port's action, it exempts the Port from all SEPA procedures, which includes both the threshold determination and the environmental impact statement. Instead, they attempt to create a distinction between "proprietary" and "regulatory" actions that has no support in the statutory or regulatory scheme of EFSLA or SEPA. Under this artificial distinction, they argue that RCW 80.50.180 only applies to "regulatory" actions.

Riverkeeper's argument is not supported by the plain meaning of the two statutes. Riverkeeper contends that regulatory actions would consist of

plan approvals, legislation, or permits, and should be contrasted from "proprietary" actions where an agency is selling or leasing public property. Riverkepper has fabricated this distinction in order to escape the clear statutory mandate that all concurrent actions on a facility subject to EFSEC are exempt from SEPA. The Council should prepare the one and only EIS on the facility, just as any other lead agency under SEPA would prepare the single EIS for each project under its jurisdiction.

When interpreting statutes, "[t]he court's fundamental objective is to ascertain and carry out the Legislature's intent, and if the statute's meaning is plain on its face, then the court must give effect to that plain meaning as an expression of legislative intent." *State, Dep't of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn*, 146 Wn.2d at 9-10, 43 P.3d at 9. Plain meaning of a statute is not simply the isolated word or phrase in question. Plain meaning may be gleaned "from all that the Legislature has said in the statute and related statutes which disclose legislative intent about the provision in question." *Ellensburg Cement Prods., Inc. v. Kittitas Cnty.*, 179 Wn.2d 737, 743, 317 P.3d 1037, 1041 (2014). In its plain language analysis, the court "must remain careful to avoid 'unlikely, absurd or strained' results." *Berrocal*, 155 Wn.2d 585 at 590, 121 P.3d at 84. To the extent necessary on appeal, the court may take judicial notice of

legislative facts, "those facts which enable the court to interpret the law." In re Marriage of Campbell, 37 Wn. App. 840, 845, 683 P.2d 604, 608 (1984).

The text of the statute does not distinguish between "regulatory" and "proprietary" actions. Instead, it is written expansively, to encapsulate decisions by "any branch of government of this state." RCW 80.50.180. It includes decisions that authorize not just location or construction, but financing of a subject facility as well. *Id.* It is easy to imagine financing decisions that could be characterized as proprietary; for example, a local government was the sponsor of a project and sought to issue bonds or directly expend funds on a project. Riverkeeper's reading of section .180 would exclude any facility with some agency involvement from the statute's scope since that agency activity could arguably be characterized as "proprietary."

Riverkeeper's reading would thus require at least two SEPA processes for any facility involving a public body. This is contrary to one of the central purposes of the Council, which is "[t]o avoid costly duplication in the siting process and ensure that decisions are made timely and without unnecessary delay." RCW 80.50.010(5). (App. 17.) "The legislature passed EFSLA as an expedited and centralized process for

reviewing potential energy sites in Washington." *Friends of Columbia Gorge*, 178 Wn.2d at 328, 310 P.3d at 783. As Council regulations state, "RCW 80.50.010 requires the council 'to recognize the pressing need for increased energy facilities." WAC 463-14-020. (App. 21.) Riverkeeper's interpretation is contrary to these aims of the statute.

Riverkeeper's interpretation, by requiring multiple SEPA processes, conflicts with SEPA too. SEPA requires one EIS for each project, which is prepared by the lead agency. WAC 197-11-060(3)(b). SEPA policies strongly disfavor "segmentation" or "piecemealing" of review because of the risk that environmental effects could be overlooked if pieces of a project are reviewed only in isolation. *E. Cnty. Reclamation Co. v. Bjornsen*, 125 Wn. App. 432, 441, 105 P.3d 94, 99 (2005). By placing, and consolidating, SEPA responsibilities with the Council, EFSLA fulfills the important SEPA policy favoring comprehensive environmental review.

The session law that enacted what became RCW 80.50.180 indicates the Legislature intended the Council to have lead and exclusive SEPA responsibilities. The court "may examine the legislative declaration of purpose to assist in determining that the plain meaning as we ascertain it is consistent with that declared purpose." *N. Coast Air Servs.*, *Ltd. v.*

Grumman Corp., 111 Wn.2d 315, 321, 759 P.2d 405, 407 (1988). The Legislature stated that "[i]t is the intent of [the bill] . . . to minimize duplication of effort in conducting studies of and preparing environmental impact statements relating to such sites . . . and to provide for a single detailed statement in accordance with RCW 43.21C.030 (c)." Laws of 1974, 1st Ex. Sess., ch. 110, § 1 (Engrossed Substitute Senate Bill.3229). (App. 18.) So, as here, the Council will prepare the EIS on the Tesoro-Savage facility. The Port's lease execution is exempt from the EIS requirement because the duty to prepare the EIS has been placed with EFSEC. Riverkeeper's contrary reading is diametrically opposed to the intent of the Legislature.

after SEPA, harmonized the two statutes. It made sure the Council could continue to carry out its mission of consolidated and expedited review of energy facilities, while still ensuring appropriate environmental review occurs. Thus, any interpretation of RCW 80.50.180 must minimize duplication of SEPA procedures to carry out the intent of the Legislature. Riverkeeper's interpretation would undo this harmonization and undermine the intent of the Legislature as expressed in RCW 80.50.010 and Senate Bill 3329. (App. 18.)

Read together, the statutory structures of SEPA and EFSLA show that section .180's exemption is intended to "cover the waterfront" of actions that potentially could be subject to SEPA. SEPA applies to "proposals for legislation and other major actions." RCW 43.21C.030(2)(c). Similarly, section .180 applies to "all proposals for legislation and other actions" RCW 80.50.180.

SEPA regulations have established a distinction between "project" and "nonproject" actions. WAC 197-11-704. RCW 80.50.180 is structured to encompass both project and nonproject actions. It includes actions that approve, authorize, or permit a specific facility or location. Similarly, the project actions listed in WAC 197-11-704(b)(2)(a) include licensing, funding, or undertaking an activity, and actions such as selling or leasing public land.

Section .180 also applies to actions which "establish[] procedures solely for approving, authorizing or permitting" projects. This is similar to the nonproject actions described in WAC 197-11-704(b)(2)(b), including legislation, regulations, policies, plans, or programs. Because the ultimate purpose of section .180 is to place SEPA responsibilities on the Council, it makes sense that it is written to cover all activities that might otherwise be subject to SEPA.

Applying the exemption here is also consistent with the way SEPA concentrates authority and responsibility in the "lead" agency on a proposal. WAC 197-11-050(2) says the lead agency is the one with "main responsibility" for SEPA's procedural requirements and "the only agency" responsible for the threshold determination or EIS. (Emphasis added.) The Council assumed lead agency status on the Vancouver terminal and made the threshold determination of significance. (CP 170.) Thus, under both EFSLA and SEPA regulations, compliance with SEPA's procedures is the Council's responsibility.

The most natural reading of section .180 is that it exempts any action on a subject facility that would otherwise be subject to SEPA. Riverkeeper claims that local government decisions about the sale or lease of public lands are not contemplated by section .180 because those decisions are not "regulatory" decisions. In essence, Riverkeeper's argument is that any EFSEC project on public land is subject to additional requirements that are not found in the statute. There is no basis in SEPA or EFSLA for creating a new classification system from whole cloth, when the SEPA regulations have already classified government actions according to the mandates of the statute.

The Council itself has issued a ruling interpreting the statute consistent with the Port's position. *In re Tesoro Savage Vancouver Energy Distribution Terminal*, EFSEC Order No. 872 (Aug. 1, 2014).

(App. 1-16.) The Council held a public hearing pursuant to RCW 80.50.090(2) to determine whether the Tesoro-Savage proposal is consistent with local land use plans and zoning ordinances. (Order at 1, App. 1.) An initial step in that process is for the City to make its own land use consistency determination. WAC 463-26-100. Various parties requested the Council postpone the land use consistency determination, arguing that it would violate SEPA for the City to review consistency of the use with its zoning ordinances prior to the Council publishing the EIS. (Order at 2, App. 2.)

The Council declined to defer its determination, stating that it "disagrees with the contention that an EIS must precede the City's consideration of land use consistency." (Order at 6-7, App. 6-7.) It further stated that "RCW 80.50.180 exempts from the requirement of an EIS *all local government actions related* to EFSEC projects." (Order at 7, App. 7 (emphasis added).) The Council interprets section .180 broadly, so as to encompass all local actions that might be subject to SEPA, including the City's zoning review. As an EIS need not precede the City's

it precede the Port's decision to execute a lease for the same project. As the agency charged with exercising special expertise to evaluate energy facilities, the Council is entitled to deference in interpreting EFSLA so long as its determination is consistent with the statute. *City of Redmond v. Cent. Puget Sound Growth Mgmt. Hearings Bd.*, 136 Wn.2d 38, 46, 959 P.2d 1091, 1094 (1998). The Council's view furthers the centralization of SEPA review with the Council. Thus it is most consistent with the intent of the Legislature and so should be granted "substantial weight:" *Id.*

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